# Reverse endocrinology as an approach to drug discovery

#### Luigi M. De Luca

Differentiation Control Section, Laboratory of Cellular Carcinogenesis and Tumor Promotion, National Cancer Institute, Building 37, Room 3A/17, 37 Convent Drive, Bethesda, MD 20892-4255, USA

#### CONTENTS

Summary	1213
Introduction and background to orphan receptors	1213
The RXR ligand Targretin as a chemopreventive	
agent against breast cancer	1214
PPARα ligands as anticholesterol and PPARγ	
ligands as antidiabetes drugs	1214
PPARγ ligands in arteriosclerosis	1214
RZR/RORα ligands as antiarthritis drugs	1216
Orphan receptors and their natural ligands	1216
Liver X receptor	1216
Pregnane X receptor	1216
Constitutive androstane receptor	1217
Farnesoid X receptor	1217
Conclusions	1217
References	1217

#### Summary

This manuscript is intended to provide a summary of a relatively new approach to drug discovery that has been termed "reverse endocrinology". Traditionally, hormones were identified on the basis of their physiological effects, i.e., they were purified, characterized chemically and their physiological effects determined. Identification of their specific receptor(s) followed through ligand-receptor interaction studies utilizing radioactive ligands. Finally, the gene and its chromosomal location were characterized. In reverse endocrinology, molecular biological approaches permit the identification of orphan receptors first and, subsequently, their specific ligands. In this manner, new synthetic ligands can be tested in reporter gene activation assays to eventually open up possibilities and suggest selective ligands as new drugs in endocrine and related diseases.

#### Introduction and background to orphan receptors

A strategy to detect and eventually identify new orphan receptors is based on the ability of their mRNAs to hybridize to labeled-oligonucleotides that represent

canonical sequences common to various members of the same superfamily. Thus, clones that expressed an orphan receptor eventually characterized as the human retinoic acid receptor (hRAR $\alpha$ ), were initially hybridized with a 24 nucleotide probe engineered as a consensus sequence for the DNA-binding domain (C-region) of the steroid-thyroid hormone receptor superfamily (1, 2). The next hurdle in this approach was to identify candidate ligands upon transcriptional activation of target genes after expression of the receptor in cultured cells. The main problem with this approach for RARs was that there were no known target genes whose promoter could be used for the reporter gene construct (1, 2).

The problem was solved by engineering chimeric receptor constructs as initially done by Green and Chambon for the human estrogen receptor (hER) (3). These authors replaced the DNA-binding domain (DBD) 66-amino-acid C-region of the hER with that of the human glucocorticoid receptor (hGR) to yield a chimeric ER containing the GR DBD, "cassette" (ER-GR.CAS). When coexpressed with reporter constructs containing a glucocorticoid response element (GRE) in target cells, the chimeric construct enabled the authors to measure estrogen responsiveness on a GRE built into the ER molecule. The sequence of steps can be summarized as follows: the ligand, estrogen, binds to the estrogen binding domain of the ER and this binding induces a conformational change that permits the subsequent binding of the exposed GR-derived DBD to the GRE on the reporter construct with consequent transcription of the reporter gene.

The use of chimeric receptors has provided the key to the identification of the nuclear receptors for retinoic acid (RARs). Since no targets were known for hRAR $\alpha$ , the DBD of the ER was inserted in the candidate orphan receptor, hRAR $\alpha$ , in place of the orphan receptor DBD sequence, yielding hRAR-ER.CAS. The ability of the chimeric receptor to activate gene expression was then tested using the vitellogenin thymidine kinase-cholesterol, acetyltransferase (vit-tk-CAT) reporter gene cotransfected with the chimeric receptor construct in HeLa cells. Petkovich *et al.* (1) found that CAT activity depended on the presence of retinoic acid (10-8 M) but

was unaffected by estradiol or retinol at concentrations of  $10^{-8}$  M. This approach, therefore, waved the necessity to use downstream retinoic acid-responsive genes and utilized an ER DBD and its response element to identify the orphan receptor as a RAR $\alpha$  (1).

Competition binding assays in lysed HeLa cells after transfection with the hRAR $\alpha$  cDNA also showed specificity of binding for retinoic acid. Similar results were obtained by Giguere *et al.* (2) in a similar independent approach, thereby establishing that a nuclear receptor RAR $\alpha$  exists for retinoic acid.

The ensemble of these techniques has been called "reverse endocrinology" (4) because the assignment of the receptor to its ligand occurs after the cloning of the receptor itself. This is obviously the reverse of the traditional approach of first characterizing the ligand and then the receptor through biochemical binding studies and final relevant studies in physiology, *etc.* 

Thanks to these molecular engineering approaches, it has been possible to identify orphan receptor ligands and to develop new synthetic and receptor-selective compounds (5, 6). These have been summarized elsewhere for the retinoids (7-12).

## The RXR ligand Targretin as a chemopreventive agent against breast cancer

As a promising prototype drug for this category of compounds, we will discuss Targretin, a synthetic rexinoid receptor (RXR)-selective ligand also called LGD-1069 (Table I). Targretin binds tightly to the 3 RXRs ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ), but has little affinity for the RARs and does not transactivate retinoic acid-responsive genes (13, 14). Because 9-cis retinoic acid (agonist for all 6 retinoid receptors, i.e., for both RARs and RXRs) (Table I) prevented mammary carcinogenesis (15, 16), Targretin was tested and shown to prevent nitrosomethylurea (NMU)-induced mammary carcinogenesis in rats, interestingly, without the classic pattern of retinoid toxicity (e.g., hypertriglyceridemia, mucocutaneous toxicity and headaches) observed with other retinoids (13). Additionally, the maximum inhibition in tumor incidence and multiplicity with Targretin was similar to that achieved with tamoxifen (13). Although Targretin was not shown to alter estrogen, progesterone or prolactin levels in this model, it did inhibit both estrogen- and tamoxifen-induced growth of the uterus (13).

The mechanism responsible for the inhibition of NMU-induced tumors by Targretin is unknown. Gottardis  $\it et al.$  (13) hypothesized that Targretin may suppress the formation of breast tumors by several possible mechanisms which may involve a direct activation of RXR-specific pathways or an effect on the endogenous retinoids that activate the RARs. Targretin also induced complete regression in 72% of NMU-induced rat primary tumors (17). Tamoxifen, at the highest dose studied, completely inhibited growth in only one-third of tumors. A moderately effective dose of Targretin (10 mg/kg) in combination with a low dose of tamoxifen (150  $\mu$ g/kg) induced tumor

regression in 26% of the tumors (17). Apparently, this finding provided greater than additive efficacy compared to similar doses of either tamoxifen (5.6%) or Targretin (10.5%) alone.

Retinoid receptors and their synthetic and natural ligands (covered elsewhere) and the most recent ligands characterized for orphan receptor binding are shown in Table I. They include ligands of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR $\alpha$ ,  $\beta\delta$  and  $\gamma$ ), the ROR-RXRs, and the pregnane X (PXR), liver X (LXR), constitutive androstane (CAR) and farnesoid X (FXR) receptors.

## PPARα ligands as anticholesterol and PPARγ ligands as antidiabetes drugs

PPARs are fundamentally involved in the regulation of energy balance (4). Though this family of receptors comprises at least 3 members, only ligands for PPAR $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$  are known. Chemicals that increase the number of peroxisomes when given to rodents are typical ligands for PPAR $\alpha$  (18, 19) and because of this, the family received its name. Liver, kidney, heart and muscle express PPAR $\alpha$  while PPAR $\gamma$  is mostly expressed in fat cells, the large intestine and monocytes. PPAR $\beta\delta$  has an ubiquitous pattern of expression (20).

Panagonists for these receptors are the linoleic, linolenic and eicosapentaenoic acids (18, 21-27) (Table I). However, selective synthetic ligands are important as prodrugs and some of them are already utilized as drugs. The fibrates (Table I) are ligands for PPAR $\alpha$  (18-20) and powerful agents for lowering blood triglycerides, one of the important risk factors for coronary heart disease (19). Fibrates binding to PPAR $\alpha$  regulate the release of fatty acids from triglycerides and their metabolism as well as that of lipoproteins (20). PPAR $\alpha$  deficiency in rodents leads to obesity resulting from inadequate metabolism of triglycerides and cholesterol (4).

The PPAR $\gamma$  orphan receptor has been found to be the molecular target for the antidiabetic drugs thiazolidine-diones (TZDs). This family comprises the drug troglitazone which is now used in the clinic (28) (Table I). Effects of the TZDs include lowering blood glucose levels and decreasing circulatory fatty acids. This receptor is also highly expressed in adipocytes (29) which also depend on it for proper differentiation (30), thereby providing a connection between the differentiation of fat cells and the control of blood glucose levels by the same receptors.

### PPARγ ligands in arteriosclerosis

Very recent studies have made important progress in the understanding of atherogenesis and the involvement of the orphan receptor PPARy in this process. The arterial wall is covered with the initial lesion called fatty streak made up of cholesterol-laden macrophages or the so-called "foam cells". Brown and Goldstein have

Table I: Receptors and ligands identified by reverse endocrinology.

SYNTHETIC DRUGS				Xenoblotics. Sumulators of CYP3A4		
ENDOGENOUS LIGANDS	HO 24(S), 25-Epoxycholesterol	The contract of the contract o	HO HO Androstanol	HO H		
RECEPTORS	LXR	XX XX	CAR	PXR		
SYNTHETIC DRUGS	1 Contract	Anti-Cholest	CS O45	Tagitazone Parti-Lipemin Parti	AD-5075	Ogo Paritina
LIGANDS ENDOGENOUS SELECTIVES	H'00	8(S)-HETE	15d PGJ,2	900) NODE	13(S) HODE	CH <sub>2</sub> O CH <sub>3</sub> CH <sub>3</sub> HCOCH,
ENDOC PAN AGONISTS	9-66 RA	Linoleir Acid Linoleir Acid CO,H CO,H Ercospentaenoir Acid	Linder Acid	Lindenc Acid	Eicosapentaenoic Acid	
RECEPTORS	RXR	מעל	PPARy			RZR/RORa

established that "scavenger receptors" are responsible for the uptake of cholesterol-rich, low-density-lipoproteins (LDLs) (31, 32). However, LDLs are taken up only after they have undergone a series of chemical and/or enzymatic modifications which form oxidized LDLs or ox-LDL (33, 34). Apparently, these modifications can be carried out in every and each arterial cell type including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells or macrophage cells (34). The formation of fatty streaks is in part the result of the recruiting action of ox-LDL on monocytes and on the ability of ox-LDL to reduce motility of resident macrophages. Ox-LDLs also transcriptionally activate gene expression of several cytokines, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and PDGF.

Since PPAR $\gamma$  had been linked to adipocyte differentiation (30, 35) and the control of cellular lipid uptake, Tontonoz *et al.* (36) investigated PPAR $\gamma$  expression and found it to be high in foam cells of atherosclerotic lesions. In fact, the authors observed induction of PPAR $\gamma$  expression in monocytes exposed to ox-LDL. They also showed that ox-LDL induced monocytic differentiation in myelomonocytic cells. The ox-LDL induced its own uptake through increased transcription of the cell surface scavenger receptor CD36. These studies suggested that PPAR $\gamma$  ligands are important regulators of atherogenesis.

In an accompanying paper (27), the same group of investigators reported the identification of two of the oxidized fatty acid components of ox-LDL as 9-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid (9-HODE) and 13-hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid (13-HODE) (Table I) as potent endogenous ligands and activators of PPARy. Therefore, these reports have defined a signaling pathway of apparent major importance in the atherogenic response. The resulting circuit is switched on by ox-LDLs, which are then internalized by the CD36 cell surface receptor. Once internalized, ox-LDLs liberate 9-HODE and 13-HODE from their inactive cholesterol esters. 9-HODE and 13-HODE then activate PPARy, which, in turn, increases transcription of the CD36 cell surface receptor for ox-LDL. This vicious cycle is suggested to be, at least in part, responsible for the atherogenic process, since it occurs simultaneously with macrophage differentiation (27). Monocytes are the important players in this cycle of events. The ox-LDL uptake process has at least two important actions: on the one hand, it induces differentiation of monocytes in macrophages, while on the other, it induces the synthesis of the cell surface scavenger receptor CD36. Both actions are apparently the result of PPARy activation by 9-HODE and 13-HODE.

#### RZR/RORα ligands as antiarthritis drugs

In research aimed at prevention and/or therapy of rheumatoid arthritis, a rat adjuvant arthritis model is utilized because it is a chronic T-cell-dependent autoimmune disease similar to rheumatoid arthritis. Using this model, Missbach *et al.* (37) were able to identify a class of TDZs as highly potent antiinflammatory agents and inhibitors of the destruction of joints. CGP-52608 (Table I) was found to be the lead compound for this new class of

TDZs with antiarthritic activity at concentrations as low as 0.01 mg/kg. The authors then searched for a molecular target and discovered that CGP-52608 specifically bound and activated the orphan receptor retinoid Z receptor/ retinoid acid receptor-related orphan receptorα, RZR/RORα. The same group had suggested that melatonin is the endogenous ligand for this receptor (38). A recent paper has described the interesting finding that two structurally different TDZs, BRL-49653 and CGP-52608, specifically activate PPARγ and RZR/RORα, respectively (Table I), resulting in different pharmacological effects consistent with the different functions of the receptors (39). BRL-49653 (Table I) specifically inhibited leptin production in differentiated adipocytes, antagonized weight loss and blood glucose and triglycerides in insulin-resistant rats. In contrast, and with remarkable specificity, CGP-52608 exhibited potent antiarthritic activity in a rat adjuvant antiarthritis model; it also had steroidlike effects on triglyceride levels and on body weight in insulin-resistant rats. The authors suggest that both compounds may be prototype drugs for novel therapeutic agents against noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and rheumatoid arthritis.

#### Orphan receptors and their natural ligands

For a recent discussion of these receptors, the reader is referred to recent excellent reviews (4, 40). Here, we highlight a few major characteristics that make them important for future insights into drug development.

#### Liver X receptor

The liver X receptor (LXR) is abundantly expressed in liver tissue (41). Like the other orphan receptors discussed here, it also forms heterodimers with RXR thereby controlling the expression of the cytochrome P450 (CYP)7a gene via binding to its promoter (42). This cytochrome is the rate-limiting key enzyme for the conversion of cholesterol to bile acids and disposes of excess cholesterol. Interestingly, oxisterols, such as 24(S),25-epoxycholesterol and 24(S)-hydroxycholesterol (42-44), rather than cholesterol itself, are the physiological LXR ligands (Table I). LXR $\alpha$ -deficient mice accumulate excessive amounts of cholesterol esters in their livers, eventually resulting in impaired liver function when fed diets high in cholesterol (45).

LXR also forms heterodimers with RXR and induces transcription of a key drug metabolizing monooxygenase, CYP3A4, upon ligand binding and interaction with the xenobiotic response element (XRE) in the promoter of this gene (43).

#### Pregnane X receptor

Interestingly, ligands for pregnane X receptor (PXR) are the same drugs that stimulate CYP3A4 gene transcription (46). PXR is expressed mainly in liver and

Drugs Fut 1999, 24(11) 1217

intestine. Drug interactions can be predicted on the basis of reporter construct activation with the cotransfected PXR and the XRE on CYP3A4 controlling the reporter gene. Natural endogenous ligands for PXR are the pregnanes, *e.g.*, the progesterone metabolite  $5\beta$ -pregnane-3,20-dione, among others (47-50).

#### Constitutive androstane receptor

The constitutive androstane receptor (CAR) is highly expressed in liver tissue (51) and apparently regulates the transcription of the steroid hydroxylase CYP2B gene (52). It binds testosterone metabolites with inhibitory rather than stimulatory effects (53) with high constitutive transcriptional activity in the absence of a known ligand (4, 51). This inhibitory activity may be the result of an antagonistic action of the androstane against an unknown endogenous ligand produced by the cells (4). However, since hormone binding also causes the dissociation of the activator protein complexes from CAR, it is likely that CAR is constitutively activated in the absence of a physiological ligand and that hormone binding simply changes the active, in this case unliganded, conformation to an inactive structure which also is incompatible with activator protein complex formation (4).

#### Farnesoid X receptor

Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) was so named because rat FXR was weakly activated by the C-15-product (farnesol) of the mevalonate pathway responsible for steroid and polyisoprenoid biosynthesis (54). However, neither the mouse nor human orthologs were activated by farnesol (55). Instead, a natural ligand for this orphan receptor has been characterized in chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) (Table I) (40, 56, 57). This binding regulates several genes involved in bile acid homeostasis. Since FXR is expressed in tissues that synthesize bile acids such as the liver, intestine and kidney, (40, 58), FXR may indeed function as a nuclear receptor for bile acids.

#### Conclusions

This brief review has highlighted the importance of reverse endocrinology (4) for the discovery of useful drugs. Some of the listed synthetic ligands such as the PPAR $\gamma$ -selective antidiabetic TDZ, troglitazone, are presently used in the clinic. The RXR-selective ligand, Targretin, and the PPAR $\gamma$ -selective TDZ, CGP-52608, offer hope for the control of diseases as life-threatening and pervasive as breast cancer and arthritis. The knowledge that fatty acid derivatives such as 9-HODE and 13-HODE are endogenous ligands for PPAR $\gamma$  and activators of macrophage differentiation and monocyte signal transduction, may eventually suggest novel approaches to fight arterial disease. Moreover, for other receptors such

as LXR, FXR and CAR, the opportunity is there for synthetic ligands yet to be discovered but likely to impact diseases of drug metabolism deficiency and others. Finally, a practical application of the basic research in the PXR family is that drug interactions can be studied in the lab using this receptor coexpressed with a reporter gene under the control of the CYP3A4 promoter to study the pattern of drug interactions in screening approaches to drug development.

All this is the result of basic research approaches and the phenomenal advancements in discovery of novel orphan receptors and their ligands. From this brief review, it is obvious that, once again, basic approaches to biological problems have offered insight into medical applications for the development of new drugs.

#### References

- 1. Petkovich, M., Brand, N.J., Krust, A., Chambon, P. A human retinoic acid receptor which belongs to the family of nuclear receptors. Nature 1987, 330: 444-50.
- 2. Giguere, V., Ong, E.S., Segui, P., Evans, R.M. *Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid.* Nature 1987, 330: 624-9.
- 3. Green, S., Chambon, P. *Oestradiol induction of a glucocorti*coid-responsive gene by a chimaeric receptor. Nature 1987, 325: 75-8
- 4. Kliewer, S.A., Lehmann, J.M., Willson, T.M. *Orphan nuclear receptors: Shifting endocrinology into reverse.* Science 1999, 284: 757-60.
- 5. Lotan, R., Dawson, M.I., Zou, C.C., Jong, L., Lotan, D., Zou, C.P. Enhanced efficacy of combinations of retinoic acid- and retinoid X receptor-selective retinoids and  $\alpha$ -interferon in inhibition of cervical carcinoma cell proliferation. Cancer Res 1995, 55: 232-6
- 6. Dawson, M.I., Okamura, W.H. *The synthetic chemistry of retinoids*. In: The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry and Medicine. M.B. Sporn, A.B. Roberts, D.S. Goodman (Eds.). Raven Press: New York 1994, 5-178.
- 7. Lehmann, J.M., Jong, L., Fanjul, A. et al. *Retinoids selective for retinoid X receptor response pathways*. Science 1992, 258: 1944-6.
- 8. Fanjul, A., Dawson, M.I., Hobbs, P.D. et al. *A new class of retinoids with selective inhibition of AP-1 inhibits proliferation*. Nature 1994, 372: 107-11.
- 9. Mangelsdorf, D.J., Umesono, K., Evans, R.M. *The retinoid receptors*. In: The Retinoids: Biology, Chemistry, and Medicine, 2nd Ed. Sporn, M.B., Roberts, A.B., Goodman, D.S. (Eds.). Raven Press: New York 1994, 319-49.
- 10. Heyman, R.A., Mangelsdorf, D.J., Dyck, J.A. et al. *9-cis Retinoic acid is a high affinity ligand for the retinoid X receptor.* Cell 1992, 68: 397-406.
- 11. Lee, H.Y., Dawson, M.I., Walsh, G.L. et al. *Retinoic acid receptor- and retinoid X receptor-selective retinoids activate signaling pathways that converge on AP-1 and inhibit squamous differentiation in human bronchial epithelial cells.* Cell Growth Differ 1996, 7: 997-1004.
- 12. Kochhar, D.M., Jiang, H., Penner, J.D., Johnson, A.T., Chandraratna, R.A. *The use of a retinoid receptor antagonist in*

- a new model to study vitamin A-dependent developmental events. Int J Dev Biol 1998, 42: 601-8.
- 13. Gottardis, M.M., Bischoff, E.D., Shirley, M.A., Wagoner, M.A., Lamph, W.W., Heyman, R.A. *Chemoprevention of mammary carcinoma by LGD1069 (Targretin): An RXR-selective ligand.* Cancer Res 1996, 56: 5566-70.
- 14. Boehm, M.F., Zhang, L., Zhi, L. et al. *Design and synthesis of potent retinoid X receptor selective ligands that induce apoptosis in leukemia cells*. J Med Chem 1995, 38: 3146-55.
- 15. Anzano, M.A., Byers, S.W., Smith, J.M. et al. *Prevention of breast cancer in the rat with 9-cis-retinoic acid as a single agent and in combination with tamoxifen.* Cancer Res 1994, 54: 4614-7.
- 16. Anzano, M.A., Peer, C.W., Smith, J.M. et al. Chemoprevention of mammary carcinogenesis in the rat: Combined use of raloxifene and 9-cis-retinoic acid. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996, 88: 123-5.
- 17. Bischoff, E.D., Gottardis, M.M., Moon, T.E., Heyman, R.A., Lamph, W.W. Beyond tamoxifen: The retinoid X receptor-selective ligand LGD1069 (Targretin) causes complete regression of mammary carcinoma. Cancer Res 1998, 58: 479-84.
- 18. Forman, B.M., Chen, J., Evans, R.M. *Hypolipidemic drugs, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and eicosanoids are ligands for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and delta.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997, 94: 4312-7.
- 19. Issemann, I., Green, S. *Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators*. Nature 1990, 347: 645-50.
- 20. Lemberger, T., Desvergne, B., Wahli, W. *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: A nuclear receptor signaling pathway in lipid physiology.* Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1996, 12: 335-63.
- 21. Gottlicher, M., Widmark, E., Li, Q., Gustafsson, J.A. *Fatty acids activate a chimera of the clofibric acid-activated receptor and the glucocorticoid receptor.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992, 89: 4653-7.
- 22. Krey, G., Keller, H., Mahfoudi, A. et al. *Xenopus peroxisome* proliferator activated receptors: Genomic organization, response element recognition, heterodimer formation with retinoid *X* receptor and activation by fatty acids. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1993, 47: 65-73.
- 23. Yu, K., Bayona, W., Kallen, C.B. et al. *Differential activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by eicosanoids*. J Biol Chem 1995, 270: 23975-83.
- 24. Forman, B.M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R.P., Spiegelman, B.M., Evans, R.M. *15-Deoxy-* $\delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin  $J_2$  is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR  $\gamma$ . Cell 1995, 83: 803-12.
- 25. Kliewer, S.A., Sundseth, S.S., Jones, S.A. et al. Fatty acids and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$ . Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997, 94: 4318-23.
- 26. Kliewer, S.A., Lenhard, J.M., Willson, T.M., Patel, I., Morris, D.C., Lehmann, J.M. *A prostaglandin*  $J_2$  *metabolite binds peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor*  $\gamma$  *and promotes adipocyte differentiation*. Cell 1995, 83: 813-9.
- 27. Nagy, L., Tontonoz, P., Alvarez, J.G., Chen, H., Evans, R.M. *Oxidized LDL regulates macrophage gene expression through ligand activation of PPARγ.* Cell 1998, 93: 229-40.

- 28. Spiegelman, B.M. *PPAR-γ: Adipogenic regulator and thiazo-lidinedione receptor.* Diabetes 1998, 47: 507-14.
- 29. Chawla, A., Schwarz, E.J., Dimaculangan, D.D., Lazar, M.A. *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) γ: Adipose-predominant expression and induction early in adipocyte differentiation.* Endocrinology 1994, 135: 798-800.
- 30. Tontonoz, P., Hu, E., Spiegelman, B.M. Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPARγ 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor [erratum appears in Cell 1995, 80]. Cell 1994, 79: 1147-56.
- 31. Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L. *Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: Implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis.* Annu Rev Biochem 1983, 52: 223-61.
- 32. Buja, L.M., Kita, T., Goldstein, J.L., Watanabe, Y., Brown, M.S. *Cellular pathology of progressive atherosclerosis in the WHHL rabbit. An animal model of familial hypercholesterolemia.* Arteriosclerosis 1983, 3: 87-101.
- 33. Goldstein, J.L., Ho, Y.K., Basu, S.K., Brown, M.S. *Binding site on macrophages that mediates uptake and degradation of acetylated low density lipoprotein, producing massive cholesterol deposition.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1979, 76: 333-7.
- 34. Steinberg, D., Parthasarathy, S., Carew, T.E., Khoo, J.C., Witztum, J.L. *Beyond cholesterol. Modifications of low-density lipoprotein that increase its atherogenicity.* New Engl J Med 1989, 320: 915-24.
- 35. Tontonoz, P., Hu, E., Graves, R.A., Budavari, A.I., Spiegelman, B.M. *PPARγ 2: Tissue-specific regulator of an adipocyte enhancer.* Genes Dev 1994, 8: 1224-34.
- 36. Tontonoz, P., Nagy, L., Alvarez, J.G.A., Thomazy, V.A., Evans, R.M. *PPARγ promotes monocyte/macrophage differentiation and uptake of oxidized LDL*. Cell 1998, 93: 241-52.
- 37. Missbach, M., Jagher, B., Sigg, I., Nayeri, S., Carlberg, C., Wiesenberg, I. *Thiazolidinediones, specific ligands of the nuclear receptor retinoid Z receptor/retinoid acid receptor-related orphan receptoralpha with potent antiarthritic activity.* J Biol Chem 1996, 271: 13515-22.
- 38. Wiesenberg, I., Missbach, M., Kahlen, J.P., Schrader, M., Carlberg, C. *Transcriptional activation of the nuclear receptor RZR\alpha by the pineal gland hormone melatonin and identification of CGP 52608 as a synthetic ligand*. Nucleic Acids Res 1995, 23: 327-33.
- 39. Wiesenberg, I., Chiesi, M., Missbach, M., Spanka, C., Pignat, W., Carlberg, C. Specific activation of the nuclear receptors  $PPAR\gamma$  and  $ROR\alpha$  by the antidiabetic thiazolidinedione BRL 49653 and the antiarthritic thiazolidinedione derivative CGP 52608. Mol Pharmacol 1998, 53: 1131-8.
- 40. Gustafsson, J.A. Seeking ligands for lonely orphan receptors. Science 1999, 284: 1285.
- 41. Apfel, R., Benbrook, D., Lernhardt, E., Ortiz, M.A., Salbert, G., Pfahl, M. *A novel orphan receptor specific for a subset of thy-roid hormone-responsive elements and its interaction with the retinoid/thyroid hormone receptor subfamily.* Mol Cell Biol 1994, 14: 7025-35.
- 42. Janowski, B.A., Willy, P.J., Devi, T.R., Falck, J.R., Mangelsdorf, D.J. *An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR* $\alpha$ . Nature 1996, 383: 728-31.
- 43. Lehmann, J.M., Kliewer, S.A., Moore, L.B. et al. *Activation of the nuclear receptor LXR by oxysterols defines a new hormone response pathway.* J Biol Chem 1997, 272: 3137-40.

Drugs Fut 1999, 24(11) 1219

44. Forman, B.M., Ruan, B., Chen, J., Schroepfer, G.J. Jr., Evans, R.M. *The orphan nuclear receptor LXRα is positively and negatively regulated by distinct products of mevalonate metabolism.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997, 94: 10588-93.

- 45. Peet, D.J., Turley, S.D., Ma, W. et al. *Cholesterol and bile acid metabolism are impaired in mice lacking the nuclear oxysterol receptor LXR* $\alpha$ . Cell 1998, 93: 693-704.
- 46. Maurel, P. Cytochromes P450: Metabolic and Toxicological Aspects. CRC Press: Boca Raton 1996.
- 47. Kliewer, S.A., Moore, J.T., Wade, L. et al. *An orphan nuclear receptor activated by pregnanes defines a novel steroid signaling pathway*. Cell 1998, 92: 73-82.
- 48. Lehmann, J.M., McKee, D.D., Watson, M.A., Willson, T.M., Moore, J.T., Kliewer, S.A. *The human orphan nuclear receptor PXR is activated by compounds that regulate CYP3A4 gene expression and cause drug interactions.* J Clin Invest 1998, 102: 1016-23.
- 49. Bertilsson, G., Heidrich, J., Svensson, K. et al. *Identification of a human nuclear receptor defines a new signaling pathway for CYP3A induction.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998, 95: 12208-13.
- 50. Blumberg, B., Sabbagh, W. Jr., Juguilon, H. et al. *SXR*, a novel steroid and xenobiotic-sensing nuclear receptor. Genes Dev 1998, 12: 3195-205.
- 51. Baes, M., Gulick, T., Choi, H.S., Martinoli, M.G., Simha, D., Moore, D.D. A new orphan member of the nuclear hormone

- receptor superfamily that interacts with a subset of retinoic acid response elements. Mol Cell Biol 1994, 14: 1544-51.
- 52. Honkakoski, P., Zelko, I., Sueyoshi, T., Negishi, M. *The nuclear orphan receptor CAR-retinoid X receptor heterodimer activates the phenobarbital-responsive enhancer module of the CYP2B gene*. Mol Cell Biol 1998, 18: 5652-8.
- 53. Forman, B.M., Tzameli, I., Choi, H.S. et al. *Androstane metabolites bind to and deactivate the nuclear receptor CARβ*. Nature 1998, 395: 612-5.
- 54. Forman, B.M., Goode, E., Chen, J. et al. *Identification of a nuclear receptor that is activated by farnesol metabolites*. Cell 1995, 81: 687-93.
- 55. Zavacki, A.M., Lehmann, J.M., Seol, W., Willson, T.M., Kliewer, S.A., Moore, D.D. *Activation of the orphan receptor RIP14 by retinoids.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997, 94: 7909-14.
- 56. Parks, D.J., Blanchard, S.G., Bledsoe, R.K. et al. *Bile acids: Natural ligands for an orphan nuclear receptor.* Science 1999, 284: 1365-8.
- 57. Makishima, M., Okamoto, A.Y., Repa, J.J. et al. *Identification of a nuclear receptor for bile acids*. Science 1999, 284: 1362-5.
- 58. Seol, W., Choi, H.S., Moore, D.D. *Isolation of proteins that interact specifically with the retinoid X receptor: Two novel orphan receptors.* Mol Endocrinol 1995, 9: 72-85.